

LIPING JIANG, CARSTEN ØRTS HANSEN

# TARGET COSTING AS A STRATEGIC TOOL TO COMMERCIALIZE THE PRODUCT AND SERVICE INNOVATION

**CBS MARITIME** 

CBS XX COPENHAGEN BUSINESS SCHOOL

COPENHAGEN BUSINESS SCHOOL DEPARTMENT OF OPERATIONS MANAGEMENT

Blue INNOship

**AUTHORS:** LIPING JIANG CARSTEN ØRTS HANSEN

#### PUBLISHED BY:

DEPARTMENT OF OPERATIONS MANAGEMENT COPENHAGEN BUSINESS SCHOOL SOLBJERG PLADS 3, FREDERIKSBERG, DENMARK NOVEMBER 2016

#### **PRODUCTION:**

**CBS MARITIME** CBSMARTIME@CBS.DK WWW.CBS.DK/MARITIME ISBN 978-87-93262-09-6

**PHOTO CREDITS:** SCANPIX/IRIS, FRONT PAGE, PAGE 06,09,12,14,15, BACK PAGE



Blue INNOship



## CONTENTS

Excutive summary	4
1 Introduction	5
2 A paradigm shift	7
3 What is target costing	10
4 How can target costing support the maritime industry	13
5 Conclusion	15
Acknowledgements	16
Appendix A. Blue INNOship	17
Appendix B. Blue INNOship Project No.15	18
Appendix C. Project No.15 thematic seminars	19
Appendix D. Project contacts	20
References	21
Further reading	23

## **EXCUTIVE SUMMARY**

#### WHAT IS THE ISSUE?

Innovation is an important key to success in today's competitive marketplace. Firms therefore have strived hard to innovate and stay ahead. However, they have to face the brutal fact that firms often fail to obtain the commercial success of innovation.

#### WHY IS IT IMPORTANT?

With keen international competition and accelerating pace of technology change, the ability to introduce innovations into the market and capture the profits generated by an innovation is of strategic importance. It can put a firm at a competitive advantage and build a firm's sustainable financial benefits.

#### WHAT CAN BE DONE?

The implementation of target costing will increase the odds of commercial success of an innovation. It aims at fulfilling the economic potential of an innovation by focusing on the market and customers during the design and price setting stages. This price will, on one hand, impose the cost-reduction target in the organization. On the other hand, it can be a driving force for improving the cost-effective design and internal operations.

The project partners reserve the right to update or modify the report.

### **1 INTRODUCTION**

Today, innovation of product and service is often seen as a major driver of competitive advantage, which could help an innovator dominate the current market or develop new markets (Salamenkaita and Salo, 2002; Datta *et al.*, 2013). It is also an efficient way to overcome the price pressure from emerging markets, which offer similar products or services at the lower prices.

Firms have spent a significant share of time and expense in designing and building products. Yet, the commercial success rate of innovation remains disappointingly low. It shows that 72% of innovations fail to meet their financial targets or fail entirely (Ramanujam and Tacke, 2016). Furthermore, innovation has become an increasingly essential factor of globalization (Datta *et al.*, 2013; Hamel and Getz, 2004). Such pressure has become more pressing as the innovation and technology change are very likely to accelerate further. Thus, the ability to introduce innovations into the market as profitable products or services has taken on an even more central role in building a firm's competitiveness.

Attempts have been made to explain why innovating firms often fail to obtain significant economic returns from an innovation. It could be that engineering-driven companies harbour the mistaken illusion that developing new products which meet customer needs will ensure fabulous success (Teece, 1986). It may also occur due to inefficient business model or organizational structure. In addition, innovators often lament the fact that commercializing innovation is crucial but they lack of commercial skills or experience to fulfill the true potential of an innovation. Among these incompetencies, one of the key challenges is how to set the price and manage the cost for the product or service (McKinsey, 2010). Cost-plus pricing is the most popular pricing strategy, where price setting is often the last step in the process of innovation. However, this approach results in limited consideration of market and customer and thus a low level of confidence in the innovation profitability.

To ensure the innovation success, a new paradigm is needed. It requires firms to put customer demand and willingness to pay in the driver seat when designing the product or service (Ramanujam and Tacke, 2016). This perspective helps to force an innovative design with the full awareness of market forces and economic restrictions. Then companies can stop hoping to succeed, and start knowing that they will (Ramanujam and Tacke, 2016).

This study aims to forge strong links between product/service designs in the engineering arena with innovation commercialization. We focus on the key research question: how to design the product and service around the price? To achieve this, target costing is offered as a strategic tool to bridge the knowledge gap between engineering and business strategy.

A theoretical framework is suggested in Section 2, which discusses how to ensure the commercial success of an innovation from a business model perspective. Section 3 explains the target costing in details, followed by the discussion on how can target

for marine equipment manufacturing industry in particular.



## 2 A PARADIGM SHIFT

To design the product and service around the price, it is more than just put a price tag. It requires a more holistic view across the entire business activities. Especially in today's competitive environment, the holistic approach has become the most effective way to anticipate market changes, enable rapid adjustment and build sustainable financial benefits.

The Business Model Canvas (BMC) is therefore introduced to provide a view of a business' key activities. The Canvas has nine elements as shown in Figure 1, which can be further aggregated into four blocks, namely Value Creation, Value Proposition, Value Delivery and Value Capture. Value Creation refers to key resources, key partners, and key activities that firms need to deliver various Value Propositions, which are offered to customers given varied customer relationships, customer segments and channels in the Value Delivery. The cost structure of Value Propositions and their impacts on revenue streams are identified in the Value Capture.



Figure 1 Business Model Canvas Source: authors' elaboration based on Osterwalder and Pigneur (2009)

The current practice can be presented within this framework (Figure 2), which follows the design-builddelivery process. When there is an innovative idea, firm first starts with Value Creation in terms of product or service development. The designed product or service will, on one hand form the basis of Value Proposition and the subsequent Value Delivery. On the other hand, it determines the selling price of a product or service by simply adding a profit margin onto the overall cost. The price then becomes a dominant element of the Value Proposition.



Figure 2 Bottom-up business model Source: authors' own elaboration

This is a typical bottom-up approach, where cost and price are often considered at the end of the innovation process. It is worth noting, however, this approach has certain limitations. First, firms underestimate the importance of commercialization when turning their technology know-how into a viable business. The majority of total cost is determined by the engineering design process, and that cost will be used to set the price. Jumping into the unknown whether customer will buy your innovation at given price can be really unnerving. Second, this approach is product-centric and heavily relies on the internal factors within the organization. The consideration of exogenous factors, such as customer's willingness to pay, unfortunately falls far short of expectation. But in fact, these external factors often govern an innovator's ability to capture the profits generated by an innovation (IMA, 1994).

On the contrary, the top-down approach starts with market research and customer insights and then proceeds to product/service design around a clear pricing strategy. Cost is set by subtracting the required profit margin from the price. In this way, cost is considered as an input instead of an output to the design process. There is also a recursive process between the Value Creation and the Value Capture, meaning that design process will recur until achieving the allowable cost. This can help firm significantly reduce investment in innovation with little or no chance of financial success (Datta *et al.*, 2013).



Figure 3 Top-down business model Source: authors' own elaboration

The key difference between these two approaches is the way that market information is built into an actual innovation. In order to design the product or service around the price, there is a need for paradigm shift: moving from the traditional bottom-up approach to top-down approach. This mindset change will ensure that the product or service is not only desirable and affordable to the customers, but also profitable to the firms.



### **3 WHAT IS TARGET COSTING**

#### 3.1 The definition of target costing

Target costing was originated from the Japanese automobile industry in 1960s and then was successfully introduced to Western companies since 1980s (Feil *et al.*, 2004; Kim, *et al.*, 1999). Many large companies in North America and Europe have adopted target costing to enhance their cost management and thus increase their competitiveness (see for example Bhimani and Neike, 1999; Caleb, *et al.*, 2007; Ellram, 2006; Nicolini, *et al.*, 2000; Dekker and Smidt, 2003; Rattary *et al.*, 2007).

Various definitions of target costing have been discussed by the Japanese scholars (Kato, 1993). In this paper, target costing is defined as a system of profit planning and cost management that is price-led, customer-, design-centered and cross functional (Ansari *et al.*, 1997). It focuses on 'what should the product cost' instead of 'what does the product cost', thus ensuring that only profitable products are introduced.

By designing cost out of products, target costing creates the opportunity for cost planning during the

design stage. The main motivation is that after the product development stage most costs have been 'designed' into the product and costs cannot be influenced any more during manufacturing process (Dekker and Smidt, 2003). Here, the cost refers to the costs throughout the entire product life cycle. Earlier cost planning also contributes to an optimal trade-offs between cost, functionality and quality by deploying cross-functional teams in the organization (Rattary *et al.*, 2007).

The application of target costing is highly beneficial as competition grew fiercer and profits weakened, because prices are then increasingly determined by market forces rather than by simply marking up the cost with a sufficient profit (Feil *et al.*, 2004). It can also be beneficial to involve members of the value chain, such as suppliers and distributors. In that way, pressures stemming from the market can be passed on to extended enterprises to encourage their creativity and cost control (Rattary *et al.*, 2007).

#### 3.2 Target costing process

The basic idea of target costing is fairly simple and straightforward. It is obtained by deducting the desired profit from the selling price:

Target cost = Selling price - Target profit

However, the process of target costing is complex and multifaceted. It can be generally broken down into two phases as shown in Figure 4.

1) The establishment phase occurs during product planning and concept development stages and involves setting a target cost;

2) The achievement phase occurs during the design development and production stages and involves achieving the target cost (Everaert, *et al.*, 2006; Ansari *et. al.*, 1997).





The primary steps in the first phase are:

- 1) Understanding customers' requirements and their willingness to pay
- 2) Defining product or service features based on market research and customer insights
- 3) Establishing the selling price given product's quality and functionality
- 4) Setting the target profit margin

When establishing the selling price, the price level of existing products or competitor's price level typically provides an initial starting point. Other factors can also be considered, such as firm's current competitive positioning, long term market penetration objective and product mix. Thus it reflects the firm's strategy, competitor's strategies and customer demand (Ax *et al.*, 2008; Everaert, *et al.*, 2006; Ellram, 2000). The required profit is typically expressed as return on sales (ROS) ratio (Ansari *et al.*, 1997). Different products may have different profit margins, depending on the pricing strategies, cost position of the firm and level of investment required (Ax *et al.*, 2008). While first phase focuses on the planning process, the attaining phase deals with activities of cost reduction. The major steps include:

- 1) Determining the target cost
- 2) Estimating the initial cost based on current cost factors
- 3) Computing the cost gap between target cost and current cost
- 4) Designing product or service to close the cost gap
- 5) Releasing the cost-effective design when attaining the target cost
- 6) Undertaking continuous improvement on cost reduction

Cost reduction through design involves breaking down the product-level cost, to function- and componentlevel cost (Cooper and Slagmulder, 2002). This allows the identification of cost drivers, which provides the greatest opportunity for cost reduction or process improvement (Ellram, 2000). Tools and techniques such as value engineering will support the process by recursive problem solving (IMA, 1998). The implementation of tools and techniques falls out of the paper scope and will not be addressed further.



### 4 HOW CAN TARGET COSTING SUPPORT THE MARITIME INDUSTRY

Most of the previous literature on target costing has focused on the implication of target costing on management accounting or on the general application of target costing (Nicolini, *et al.*, 2000; Dekker and Smidt, 2003; Rattary *et al.*, 2007). For the maritime sector, target costing is relatively an uncharted territory. There has been only limited research on applying the target costing for cost management in shipbuilding sector (Fafandjel, *et al.*, 2008; Yasukata, *et al.*, 2013). As newbuilding price is market determined, it is an imperative to act with the newbuilding production cost optimization. Target costing therefore provides the possibility to influence on larger part of these shipbuilding costs within the production process (Fafandjel, *et al.*, 2008).

This section attempts to fill the research gap by making the explicit linkage of target costing to the marine equipment manufacturing industry. Since target costing is environment-specific, it would be beneficial to understand the industrial status. Currently, the marine equipment manufacturers and service providers are facing two major challenges.

First of all, the industry is transforming from the product-centric to the customer-centric model by offering various product-service solutions (PSS). When offering such PSS, it is strategically important to understand how to set the price and manage the cost to be profitable while ensuring the quality and functionality. It has become even more crucial today when ship owners have been suffering a huge downturn of profit during periods of recession and shipping overcapacity. Ship owners are therefore more sensitive to differences in selling prices. Highly sophisticated customers are even able to attach different values to offerings from different suppliers (Ansari, *et al.*, 2007). Consequently, equipment suppliers have less space to maneuver with the selling price, and must focus on costs to realize an adequate profit margin and to achieve certain market penetration objectives (Dekker and Smidt, 2003). To make things even more complicated, service contract types range from simple spare parts contracts to customizedand performance-based contracts (Avlonitis *et al.*, 2014). Each contract type presents different cost structures and time horizons. With longterm and performance-based contract, it requires suppliers to be able to estimate the potential costs and get an appropriate balance of risks and rewards.

Another industrial challenge is the intensified environmental awareness and regulation. IMO, regional and national regulatory bodies, as well as shippers are pressuring marine equipment suppliers to meet environmental protection regulations. When designing product or service, the environmental sustainability should be addressed in the same way as other product or service features, considering customer's willingness to pay and environmentalrelated costs. In an economic down turn, the customer's willingness to pay may be lower, and that could place the marine equipment suppliers at a competitive disadvantage. But if suppliers are able to offer an environmentally superior product or service with the market-driven design but still achieve economic success, they can gain a competitive advantage. Target costing, in this instance, can serve

as a useful tool to design the environmental consideration and related-cost as additional constraint into the product and service.

Therefore, the implementation of target costing can be combined with environmental sustainability to cope with the tightening environmental standards in the maritime sector. It will also help marine equipment suppliers better manage the economicand environmental- related costs. Firms therefore can integrate key metrics, such as price, cost, profit, energy usage, environmental performance of product and service in the overall decision- making framework.



### **5 CONCLUSION**

Turning innovation into profit is of strategic importance to firms today and the true value of innovation can only be captured when it succeed in commercialization. Many innovations have shown that focusing on product engineering and ignoring the customer will end up failing.

Starting with the market and customer, target costing can be applied as a strategic tool to successfully commercialize the product and service innovation. In this way, innovators don't simply design products or services to make better use of technologies and processes; they design products or services that will meet the price required for market success. This price will, on one hand, impose the cost-reduction target in the organization. On the other hand, it can be a driving force for improving the cost-effective design and internal operations.

Target costing can also be a valuable tool for the marine equipment manufacturing industry to response to the intensified competition and environmental regulation. Environmental consideration and its cost impact can be evaluated in a similar way as other manufacturing features and successfully designed into its product and service process. Target costing can also facilitate the industry's transformation from product manufacturers to integrated solution provides, by planning cost and profit associated with providing product-service solutions. Now more than ever, firms must rethink the practices of commercializing innovation to strength hits business position. Only with sufficient engineering competency and commercialization skills, can a firm gain market share and experience economic success.



### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The report is part of the dissemination of the Blue INNOship Project No. 15 'Servitization: Creating the market by understanding the price, cost, contracts and financing'. The project is part of the Danish societal partnership, Blue INNOship and partly funded by Innovation Fund Denmark (IFD) under File No: 155-2014-10, as well as the Danish Maritime Fund and Orient's Fond.

### **APPENDIX A. BLUE INNOSHIP**

Blue INNOship is a societal partnership focusing on creating growth and employment in the Blue Denmark through development of green and energy-efficient solutions.

Blue INNOship consists of app. 40 partners covering suppliers, shipowners, consultants, universities and schools, GTS institutions, authorities and classification societies, who work together in 5 work packages containing 14 active projects and 1 pre-study.

The long term objective of Blue INNOship is to develop an innovation model for the Danish maritime industry and the partnership is an investment in the development of this strong common innovation model that will offer a central, competitive advantage for the Danish maritime industry.

The activities in Blue INNOship are funded by the project partners, Innovation Fund Denmark, the Danish Maritime Fund and Orient's Fund.

### APPENDIX B. BLUE INNOSHIP Project no.15

#### Servitization: Creating the market by understanding price, cost, contracts and financing

#### Project background

As part of the Blue INNOship, Copenhagen Business School together with Danish maritime carries out the project 'Servitization - Creating the market by understanding performance, price, cost, contracts and financing'. Focusing on the critical success factor in servitization, the project aims to advance the dialogue between the Danish equipment manufacturers/service providers and ship owners. In particular, the project looks at the pricing practice and cost management of product-service solutions, design of service contracts, and financing of servitized solutions.

#### Project highlights

This project aims to advance the manufacturer-ship owner dialogue with focuses on the following aspects:

*Price and cost* - Building up the competencies of suppliers in pricing strategy and cost management of productservice solutions by considering market, design, life cycle and value chain; and building up the competencies of ship owners to strategically select the reliable supplier, product and service.

*Contracts* - Establishing new specific knowledge about how contracts can enable the transformation from oneoff transactions to long-term collaboration between supplier and ship owner that encourages innovation and technical development by e.g. ensuring balance between risk and reward.

*Financing* - Creating specific insights into understanding how to link scale, profitability and financing of servitized solutions for the industry.

#### Project participants

CBS Maritime and Danish Maritime

#### Project Homepage

For more information on the project and upcoming activities, please visit the CBS Maritime website <a href="http://www.cbs.dk/en/knowledge-society/business-in-society/cbs-maritime/research/research-projects">http://www.cbs.dk/en/knowledge-society/business-in-society/cbs-maritime/research/research-projects</a>

### APPENDIX C. PROJECT NO.15 Thematic Seminars

Seminar theme	Seminar dates
1. Target costing as a strategic tool to commercialize the product and service innovation (finalized)	3 October 2016
2. Pricing management and strategy for the marine equipment suppliers	14 December 2016
3. Optimization and handling of risks and cost within contracts	1 March 2017
4. Strategic decision-making of ship owners in investing in marine equipment and selecting suppliers	7 June 2017
5. Financing of new business models that can promote business and sales within the maritime industry – general	20 September 2017
6. Financing of new business models that can promote business and sales within the maritime industry – cases	6 December 2017
7. Negotiation and collaboration through international contracts	22 March 2018
8. Final Conference	14 June 2018
Optional: marine equipment leasing workshop	6 Feburary 2018

Note: The project partners reserve the right to adjust the themes and timing of the remaining seminars according to the interests of the stakeholders and the progress of the project activities.

### **APPENDIX D. PROJECT CONTACTS**

#### 20

- Carsten Ørts Hansen (Project manager) Head of Department, Copenhagen Business School E-mail: <u>ch.om@cbs.dk</u> Tel.: +45 3815 2483
- Liping Jiang (for price- and cost-related research) Associate Professor, Copenhagen Business School E-mail: <u>lji.om@cbs.dk</u> Tel.: +45 3815 2229
- Tor Hjorth-Falsted (for financing-related research) Project Manager, Danish Maritime E-mail: <u>thf@danskemaritime.dk</u> Tel.: +45 3345 4394
- Henriette Schleimann (for contract-related research) PhD student, Copenhagen Business School E-mail: <u>hs.jur@cbs.dk</u> Tel.: +45 3815 2636

For more information on the report, please contact Dr. Liping Jiang, lji.om@cbs.dk. For additional information on the project, please contact the project contacts above.

### REFERENCES

Ansari, S., Bell, J., and CAM-I Target Costing Group, 1997. *Target Costing: The Next Frontier in Strategic Cost Management*, Irwin-McGraw Hill, Chicago.

Ansari, S., Bell, J., and Okano, H., 2007. Target costing: Uncharted research territory. C.S. Chapman, A.G. Hopwood, M.D. Shields (Eds.), *Handbook of management accounting research*, Vol. 2, Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 507–530.

Avlonitis, V., Frandsen, T., Hsuan, J., and Karlsson, C., 2014. *Driving competitiveness through servitization: A guide for practitioners*. Copenhagen: Copenhagen Business School: The CBS Competitiveness Platform.

Ax. C., Greve, J., and Nilsson, U., 2008. The impact of competition and uncertainty on the adoption of target costing*. International Journal of Production Economics*, 115 (1), 92-103.

Bhimani, A. and Neike, C., 1999. How Siemens designed its target costing system to redesign its products, *Cost Management*, 13 (4), 28–34.

Caleb, J. R., Beverley R. L., and Yvonne P. S., 2007. Target costing in New Zealand manufacturing firms*, Pacific Accounting Review*, Vol. 19, Issue 1, 68-83.

Cooper, R. and Slagmulder, R. 2002. Target costing for new-product development: component-level target costing. *Cost Management*, 16 (5), 36-45.

Datta, A., Reed R., and Jessup, L., 2013. Commercialization of innovations: an overarching framework and research agenda. *American Journal of Business*, Vol. 28, Issue 2, 147-191.

Dekker, H. and Smidt, P., 2003. A survey of the adoption and use of target costing in Dutch firms*. International Journal of Production Economics*, 84 (3) (2003), 293–305.

Ellram, L.M. 2000. Purchasing and supply management's participation in the target costing process. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 36 (2), 39–51.

Ellram, L.M., 2006. The implementation of target costing in the United States: theory versus practice. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*. Winter, 13-26.

Everaert, P., Loosveld, S., Acker, T., Schollier, M. and Sarens, G., 2006. Characteristics of target costing: theoretical and field study perspectives. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 3, 236-263.

Fafandjel, N., Zamarin, A., and Hadjina, M., 2008. Generation of Optimal Vessel's Production Cost Structure. *Strojarstvo* 50 (2), 77-84.

Feil, P., Yook, K.-H., and Kim, I.-W., 2004. Japanese target costing: a historical perspective. *International Journal of Strategic Cost Management*, Spring, 10-19.

Hamel, G. and Getz, G., 2004. Funding growth in an age of austerity. *Harvard Business Review*, (July-August), pp. 76–84.

IMA, 1994. *Implementing Target Costing*, Institute of Management Accountants, Montvale, New Jersey.

IMA, 1998. *Tools and techniques for implementing target costing*, Montvale, New Jersey.

Kato, Y., 1993. Target costing support system: lessons from leading Japanese companies. *Management Accounting Research*, 4 (1993), 33–47.

Kim, I-W., Ansari, S. Bell, J.E. and Swenson, D., 1999. Target costing: lessons from Japan. *International Journal of Strategic Cost Management*, Autumn 99, 3-11.

McKinsey, 2010. Innovation and commercialization, McKinsey Global Survey.

Nicolini, D., Tomkins, C., Holti, R., Oldman, A. and Smalley, M., 2000. Can target costing and whole life costing be applied in the construction industry? evidence from two case studies. *British Journal of Management*, Blackwell Synergy Publishing, London, UK, 11 (4), 303-324.

Osterwalder, A. and Pigneur, Y., 2009. *Business Model Generation: A Handbook For Visionaries, Game Changers, And Challengers.* 

Ramanujam, M. and Tacke, G., 2016. *Monetizing Innovation: How Smart Companies Design the Product Around the Price*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New Jersey.

Rattray, C. J., Lord, B.R. and Shanahan, Y.P., 2007. Target costing in New Zealand manufacturing firms, *Pacific Accounting Review*, Vol. 19, Issue 1, 68 - 83.

Salamenkaita, J.P. and Salo, P., 2002. Rationales for government interventions in the commercialization of new the technologies. *Technology Analysis and Strategic Management*, 14(2), 183-200.

Teece, D.J., 1986. Profiting from technological innovation: implication for integration, collaboration, licensing and public policy, *Research Policy*, Vol. 15 No. 6, 285-305.

Yasukata, K., Yoshida, E., Yamada, I., and Oura K., 2013. A longitudinal case study of target cost management implementation at a shipbuilding company, *Journal of Accounting & Organizational Change*, Vol. 9 Issue 4, 448 – 470.

### **FURTHER READING**

Ansari, S. and Bell, J., 1998. Target costing: profit planning in disguise. *Accountancy and Finance*, February, 3, No. 1, 2–4.

Ansari, S., Bell, J., Swenson, D., and CAM-I Target Costing Group, 2005. *Hitting the target: the CAM-I target costing implementation guide*, Novis Publishing, Texas.

Brausch, J.M. 1994, Beyond ABC: target costing for profit enhancement. *Management Accounting*, 76 (5) (1994), pp. 45–50.

Bu, Z., 2002. *Target costing as strategic cost management*, Ph.D., University of Nagoya.

Clifton, B., Townsend, W., Bird, H. and Albano, R., 2003. *Target costing: market driven product design*. ESE Group, Princeton.

Ewert, R. and Christian, E.,1999. Target costing, co-ordination and strategic cost management*. European Accounting Review*, 8 (1), 23–49.

Tanaka, M., 1997. Pricing in target costing. *Journal of Management & Accounting Studies*, (41), 262–274.

Y. Hasegawa., 2001. Reconsidering the theory of target costing: costs generated by recalls of Japanese automanufactures. *Reitaku International Journal of Economic Studies*, 9 (1), 37–51.

Yamakita, H.,1998. Study on management control function of target costing: analysis of manufacturer-supplier relationships. *Shoko Shido*, 463(2), 1–26.

